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time true to our destiny” was the problem pro-

posed to the congregation of Pilgrim Church by
its minister, Dr. William Halfaker, on Sunday, October 18,
1970. This suggests a purpose, perhaps, of all church
histories. Like a human being, a church cannot know
where it is going until it knows what it is. It is not the
purpose of this centennial history to revel in past achieve-
ments, even though there may be many in which to take
pride. It is rather to try to understand what this Pilgrim
Congregational Church is and what its reasons for exist-
ing are. But a church — particularly a Congregational
church — is primarily people, and its reasons for being
depend on the people who made it and what they were.

":[ Iow to be true to our heritage and at the same

Part of the letter written on October 22, 1870, to the
Reverend A. H. Clapp of Bible House, New York, asking
about the Reverend Charles C. Salter of Brookfieid, Mis-
souri, as a minister for a Congregational Church in the
pioneer community of Duluth tells us something of one
of these men and also something of the times: “The op-
portunity for a good working Christian man, of large
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heart and clear head, one who can preach fair English
and yet is not afraid to take poor men and rough men by
the hand — for such a man the opportunity is a rare one.”

Only imagination and a few rare pictures can help
us visualize the Duluth of L. H. Tenney and the North-
western Land Agency, whose letterhead his communica-
tion carries. Only fourteen years before the letter, pro-
moters had platted six townsites now within the city and
named one of them Duluth. Four years before the letter,
in 1866, Jay Cooke, Philadelphia financier, had first vis-
ited the community, and one year before, in 1869, con-
struction had begun on the Duluth end of the Lake
Superior and Mississippi Railroad, bringing a sudden in-
crease in population. So from a reported county popula-
tion of 406 in 1860, Duluth by 1870 is reported to have
had about 3000 persons.

By November 25, 1870, a month after his first letter,
Mr. Tenney was writing to the Reverend Richard Hall,
State Superintendent of Home Missions, of St. Paul with
evident urgency: “Mr. Hall, you must arrange matters in
some-way so Mr. Salter can and will come, for he is the
man. Please write Mr. Salter at once.” This was a man
of action and impatience, because only three days later
on November 28, Mr. Tenney wrote to Mr. Salter that
a preliminary meeting of the “Congregational friends” had
been held that evening and had authorized him to call
Mr. Salter to come, pledging $500 a year salary, “in ad-
dition to any amount the Congregational Society may
give.” He did warn the minister that “Some of the Pres-
byterians feel that the movement is a wicked one and
feel bad.”

Mr. Salter did accept the call, and on January 18,1871,
the church was organized by a Council with sixteen charter
members: Thomas C. Cain, Catherine Cochrane (Mrs.
J. P. Johnson), Thomas Dowse, Mr. and Mrs. Jeremiah
Kimball, Mr. and Mrs. O. K. Patterson, Mrs. Roger S.
Munger, the Reverend and Mrs. Charles C. Salter, Mr.
and Mrs. Ezra L. Smith, George Spencer, Mr. and Mrs.
W. S. Woodbridge, and J. Perkins Johnson. For six
months public services were held in a room in the Pendle-
ton Block on Superior Street while the church struggled



to find ways to support itself. The future success of the
church seemed evident, however, from a report on Febru-
ary 17, 1871, by the Deacons and Trustees to the Home
Missionary Society, in which they record the number of
members, 17, but the average congregation, 75.

No doubt a certain amount of denominational jealousy
was present in formation of Pilgrim Church — as dis-
played in Mr. Tenney’s letter and also in a letter from
the Reverend Richard Hill, state superintendent, in his
request to the American Home Missionary Society for
$900 to aid the little church: “I wish to save our own
members at least from drifting unnecessarily into the Chs.
of other denominations.” But the ecumenism, which has
in more recent years generally been part of Congrega-
tionalism, was already present in Mr. Salter’s quarterly
report, September 23, 1872. He had evidently heard the
criticism that perhaps there were too many churches in
Duluth: “The cure for ‘too many’ churches is to be found,
not in trying to check the ardor of Christian advance, but
in promoting that larger organic unity of the Church of
Christ to which I believe the signs of the times are point-
ing.”

Two lots on the corner of Second Street and First
Avenue East were secured by the church and a chapel
built for the total cost of $5500. Although the Episco-
palians claim him, the historical sketch which is part of
the 1887 manual reports, “Mr. Jay Cooke gave $1000 to
the enterprise.” A bell weighing 1200 pounds and costing
$365 was contributed by Dr. Charles L. Ives of New
Haven, Connecticut, brother-in-law of Mr. Salter. The
chapel was dedicated on July 16, 1871, and the bell rang
for the first time on September 25, 1872. That bell also
served the community, according to a resolution passed
at the annual meeting in January, 1878: “That we give the
Board of Education the privilege of ringing our bell once
each week day until July 1, 1878, provided that the Board
of Education make all needed repairs incidental to the
ringing of the bell and provided that only the janitor of
the High School building be permitted to do such ringing.”

A Sunday School, with W. S. Woodbridge as the first
superintendent, was organized at the close of the first

Sunday service on January 22, 1871, with eight children
and twenty-four adults. On December 26, 1872, the con-
gregation voted to incorporate a children’s song or anthem
in the morning service, which was probably the beginning
of a children’s choir. A small square Sunday School room
was added to the chapel later for the “infant department.”
A Ladies’ Aid Society was begun in the 1870’s, certainly
by 1876 according to records, and typical of such societies,
records for January 28, 1878, say, “It also appeared that
the ladies had raised $229.25 which had been largely used
to pay off the church debt.”

One of the indications of the community and social
consciousness of the young church is the story told of
Roger S. Munger, who in 1871, when the canal was being
dug through Minnesota Point, worked all night and most
of Sunday, foregoing his beloved choir practice and church
service for the good of his community. Further evidence of
service in the broader field was the organization of a
Woman’s Missionary Society, and in 1874 the first record
of Pilgrim Church’s contribution to missions of $125.

1873 saw the downfall of Jay Cooke’s empire, the halt-
ing of work on the railroad, and financial disaster for
Duluth. Population declined from an estimated 6,000 to
1,500. The church, which had become self-supporting in
1872, was obliged to apply again to the Home Missionary
Society for aid. Many Duluth churches closed their doors.
Mr. Salter’s salary, which in 1872 was $1700, in 1874-75
was down to $1200. Minutes for 1875 record that $750
had been paid him for the first half, but “that the pastor
had very kindly thrown off $150 — leaving only $150
yet due.” Difficulties were blamed on a decrease in mem-
bership due to the removal of 30 families. Mr. Salter,
whose health was failing, was forced for a time to preach
on alternate Sundays in the Brainerd Church, which hoped
to raise $350 and perhaps more for his support. His
resignation on April 11, 1876, forced the members of
the congregation to consider the question of abandoning
the church. The decision was resounding: “That the
church shall continue.”

During the next five years a series of part-time and
temporary ministers came and went: Reverend C. A.













































